
 

 
 

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
Date Monday 4 November 2019 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
 

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement. 
 
 
1. Apologies   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 October 2019  (Pages 3 - 16) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties   

6. Operation Spruce Up and Fly-tipping in County Durham - 
Progress Updates:   

 a) Joint report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships and the Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services  (Pages 17 - 22) 

 b) Presentation by the Civic Pride Officer and Neighbourhood 
Warden Manager  (Pages 23 - 62) 

7. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 



County Hall 
Durham 
25 October 2019 
 
 
To: The Members of the Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Councillor E Adam (Chair) 
Councillor O Milburn (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors B Avery, A Batey, D Bell, L Brown, J Carr, B Coult, 
R Crute, S Dunn, A Gardner, K Hawley, J Higgins, P Howell, 
C Kay, L Maddison, R Manchester, I McLean, A Simpson, 
P Sexton and M Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members 
Mr T  Bolton and Mrs P Holding 

 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Paula Nicholson Tel: 03000 269710 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
 
At a Meeting of Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held in Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Friday 4 
October 2019 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor E Adam (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors O Milburn, B Avery, A Batey, D Bell, J Carr, B Coult, R Crute, S Dunn, 
J Higgins, R Manchester, A Simpson, P Sexton and M Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members: 

Mr T Bolton and Mrs P Holding 
 
Also Present: 

Councillors J Clare and Councillor S Iveson 
Mrs R Morris – Co-opted Member on Economy and Enterprise Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

 
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, in particular members of the 
Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 
The Chairman advised that members of the Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be invited to attend the 
Special meeting of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to be held on Tuesday 17 December 2019, which would be looking at 
fluoridation in water throughout County Durham. 
 

1 Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors L Brown, K Hawley, P Howell 
and I McLean. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
No notification of Substitute Members had been received. 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



3 Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and were signed by the Chair. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

5 Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
 
There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties. 
 

6 Media Relations  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer referred to recent press articles that fell within 
the remit of Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
The article were: 
 

 Move to boost recycling by using labels everyone can understand – A clearer 
labelling system for packaging would be introduced to inform people what 
could and couldn’t be recycled. The current system was confusing and 
holding back the recycling rate, which had stalled in England at about 45 per 
cent. The means of delivering increased rates of recycling would ensure that 
people had a better understanding of what was recyclable and how to do it. 

 Plastic bag sales in England down by a third in last year – Sales of single-use 
bags by all large retailers in 2018/19 slumped by 37% to 1.11bn compared 
with the previous year. Sales of plastic bags by the seven biggest 
supermarkets had plummeted by 90% since the levy was introduced in 2015. 
According to Defra, the average consumer in England now bought just 10 
bags a year from the main supermarket retailers down from 140 bags in 2014, 
before the change came into force. 

 Delight as County Durham received 12 Green flags again – Parks, cemeteries 
and crematoriums across County Durham had once again been awarded a 
prestigious national status for the third year in a row. A total of 12 sites had 
received the Green Flag accreditation by the environmental charity Keep 
Britain Tidy, in recognition of the excellent standards of maintenance and 
good practice that kept them looking great. 

 We are super energy savers – Reducing carbon emission and saving millions 
of pounds a year had earned the Council the title of super energy savers. The 
council’s low carbon economy team had been praised by Interreg Europe for 
its use of energy monitoring software. As part of the LOCARBO project, which 
was funded by Interreg Europe, the council’s low carbon economy team was 

Page 4



asked to produce examples of good practice to be shared amongst local 
authorities in partner countries. 

 
Resolved: That the presentation be noted. 
 

7 Climate Emergency Update Report - Public Consultation  
 
The Committee considered the joint report of the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services and Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
that provided members with an outline of the approach and a scope of the public 
consultation that was underway on proposals to achieve a reduction in both the 
Council’s emissions and Countywide emissions (for copy or report, see file of 
minutes). 
 
The Head of Environment was in attendance to present the report and deliver a 
presentation that highlighted the following points: 
 

 The Climate Crisis / Climate Emergency 

 County Durham Temperatures 

 Two Emergency Targets Set 
o Council Emissions 
o Countywide Emissions 

 What the Council are Consulting on 

 Information was provided that indicated that the effects of climate change was 
evident in county Durham with temperatures rising and this had led to flooding 
which impacted on the economy, health and the environment. 

 Two targets had been set, the first was to reduce the Council’s carbon 
emissions by 60% by 2030 and the second was to investigate further actions 
to make county Durham completely carbon neutral by 2050 as set out in the 
Climate Emergency report that was presented at Council in July 2019. 

 However, it was highlighted that the Council’s emissions only made up 3% of 
the county’s emissions. 

 The Council emissions target was focused on four target areas, heat – 
refurbish buildings, improve insulation, better boilers and biomass boilers; 
electricity – the use of solar panels on Durham County Council buildings, 
transport - the authority’s pool car contract was due for renewal soon and 
there was potential for energy saving options; large HGVs were waiting for 
the technology to catch up and consideration of other non electric initiatives 
such as bio gas and the use of electric bin lifts which provided reductions in 
noise and fuel; and schools using biomass boilers and LED lighting 
replacement. 

 The Countywide emission targets would focus on improvements in energy 
efficiency of homes, businesses and community buildings; generate more 
energy from County Durham’s natural, renewable energy resources; find 
greener ways to heat buildings such as district heating schemes; that county 
Durham was ready for electric vehicles, Durham County Council in 

Page 5



partnership with others had 100 charging points for electric vehicle but more 
was required. Members were informed that an additional 63 hectares of land 
had been identified under the urban tree challenge. In terms of recycling and 
waste reduction county Durham was a leader in the North East but there was 
a long way to go to be a national leader. 

 The County Council’s emissions target is currently 42% with a target of 45% 
by 2020 and 55% by 2025. 

 The consultation asked a series of questions asking for ideas in relation to the 
focus of climate change in county Durham and raise awareness of a Climate 
Pledge. Within the consultation documentation was a link to the full climate 
emergency report that respondents are encouraged to read if they are 
completing the full consultation. An option was available for recipients to 
complete a shorter survey. The survey had involvement from children and 
young people and to date there had been a good response to the 
consultation. 

 
The Chair thanked the Head of Environment for his presentation and indicated that 
the authority needed as much information as they could from the public. The role of 
the committee was to view and review the recommendations, but they also had an 
opportunity to feed into the consultation. 
 
Councillor Avery referred to the insulation projects that had taken place in the Dean 
Bank area that had added insulation to the outside of the homes and had tidied 
them up. He added that the project was EU funded. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that Durham University were involved in 
assessing these schemes and the benefits of the project were pointed out to central 
Government to support local authorities and social housing associations.  
 
The Chair asked how they planned to measure the difference. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that the overall consumption across the 
county was calculated by government. The county figures were based on all energy 
providers which was split into sectors and the results of the scheme were shown in 
the government figures. Occupiers of the scheme also shared before and after 
energy consumption with the university to show the success of the scheme, which 
was part of the overall project evidence of benefits. 
 
Councillor Dunn referred to the carbon emissions targets set by the council that 
received some criticism as it was not too ambitious, but it needed to be realistic and 
that government support was needed. He indicated that it was absolutely right that 
the council consult with the people in County Durham and listen to them as the 
council did not have all the answers or solutions. They needed everyone on board 
as the council’s emissions only accounted for 3% of the county’s total emissions. 
The council declared the climate emergency nearly a year ago and that Durham 
County Council had come a long way, schools and the Durham County Council 

Page 6



estate should reduce their carbon footprint as soon as possible with the use of solar 
panels and LED lighting. Areas such as transport may take longer and require 
further research and development. Councillor Dunn advised he was looking forward 
to hearing what people thought. 
 
The Head of Environment indicated that the climate emergency was declared in 
February 2019 and they were not going to wait for the consultation before doing any 
work. They had an action plan that recognised that resources were needed and the 
items with the lowest cost, but higher impact would be picked for those early wins. 
 
Mrs R Morris indicated that she welcomed the consultation and asked what were 
their priorities and if Area Action Partnerships around the county could be asked 
what their priorities were. In rural areas there were particular issues about carbon 
emissions and transport needs. She went on to suggest that raising awareness was 
critical. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that the consultation was to glean what people 
felt were priorities. There was no particular theme and they would pick out the sorts 
of things that were low in cost but delivered high returns. Greta Thunberg stated that 
the most important priority was people informing themselves of the problem, but the 
council’s action plan highlighted education and awareness as important and would 
help to inform people and this was a significant area of work. 
 
Mrs R Morris indicated that she was concerned that communities should articulate 
their concerns and gave an example of in her area the local school were posting 
notices to ask people waiting for children to switch off their engines and that more 
children could walk to school. She went on to suggest that this was something 
Durham County Council could do with all local authority maintained schools in 
county Durham as this was a low or no cost solution that would provide a benefit. 
 
The Head of Environment stated that this would come through in the consultation 
and that it was a good idea to get schools involved. This would be a low cost with a 
reward and underlined why they welcomed consultation and feedback. 
 
Councillor Carr indicated that communities should receive education via the Area 
Action Partnerships in relation to how to become more energy efficient. Meetings 
could be held about what could do done and who were the affordable energy 
suppliers and the grants available. 
 
The Head of Environment referred to the BEEP project which had helped lots of 
small to medium enterprises (SMEs) and BEEP2 had now been established using 
European funding doing tremendous work. Grants were available and they had 
helped a lot of organisations and they hoped to build on that and extend further. 
 
The Chair asked if academies were included in the 3% figure for Durham County 
Council. 

Page 7



 
The Head of Environment responded that this did not include academies, but they 
could offer them support. 
 
The Chair then referred to the emissions targets and asked about the position 
regarding academies. He also asked about the role of woodland and peatland and 
whether we were exploring the use of hydrogen powered vehicles. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that carbon emissions of academies would not 
be included within the Durham County Council measure but obviously would form 
part of the countywide measure. The council did work with some academies in 
identifying carbon emission reductions that they could make. His team had also 
identified areas of Durham County Council land next to ancient woodland that could 
have a win through natural colonisation and explained that the service was looking 
at grant schemes. Where areas were threatened by disease such as Ash Dieback 
the service was planning to plant more trees. 
 
The Chair went on to advise that Durham County Council should also be looking at 
new technologies such as hydrogen powered vehicles in addition to electric 
vehicles. 
 
The Head of Environment indicated that hydrogen was an area that they were 
looking at. 
 
Mr T Bolton referred to some excellent work carried out with Durham County 
Council and community centres that provided an energy efficiency survey that 
resulted in lights been replaced with LED lights and asked if this was something that 
Durham County Council actively promoted and contacted parishes and community 
centres. He also referred to the LED street lighting programme and asked if they 
had considered solar power units for road signage. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that the work to retrofit 60,000 street lights 
was a significant project and that a further 15,000 street lights were being 
considered and would lead to further carbon reductions. He had not heard about 
solar powered road signage so would feed this back to colleagues. He went on to 
advise that giving advice to communities was an important element of reducing 
carbon emissions and that Evergreen fund was a government fund that provided 
upfront costs and then the communities paid back but it was for members to 
determine. 
 
Mrs P Holding indicated that she was delighted that the Council had invested into 
tree planting around the County and that the County Durham Local Access Forum 
were looking at areas for tree planting with paths for walks that would help people’s 
wellbeing and the environment. 
 

Page 8



The Head of Environment responded that the Head of Corporate Property and Land 
was systematically looking at the best use of land holdings. Members would hear 
more about the urban tree fund in the coming weeks where the council would be 
working with social housing. 
 
Councillor Higgins asked if they had considered reducing the summer school 
holiday to 4 weeks and move to the winter months to make energy savings. 
 
The Head of Environment indicated that he was not aware that this was being 
looked at, but all ideas would be looked at as part of the consultation. 
 
Resolved: (i) That the report and presentation be noted. 
 
(ii) That the Committee continue to receive updates on the Climate Emergency 
response and monitor its progress. 
 

Councillor J Clare left the meeting 
 

8 Single Use Plastics: From Pledge to Practice  
 
The Committee considered the joint report of the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services and Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
that provided members with a progress report on the work to reduce the use of 
Single Use Plastics in Durham County Council and County Durham (for copy or 
report, see file of minutes). 
 
The Head of Environment was in attendance to present the report and deliver a 
presentation that highlighted the following points: 
 

 Background 
o What was the Council doing to phase out SUPs? Could it sign a 

pledge? 
o What partners in County Durham were doing including businesses? 
o What could the Council do as a land owner and licensing authority as 

well as public events 

 Work to date: Action Plan – Corporate Procurement Services 

 Adopted a bespoke Single Use Plastic Pledge for County Durham County 
Council 

 Single Use Plastic Pledge – 188 had pledged to date 

 SUP logo 

 Work to date: Action Plan  
o DCC Catering Services 
o Consumer Protection Services 
o Education 
o Highways 
o Waste Management 

Page 9



o Culture and Sport 
o External Partner Engagement 

 Working with Partners – Northumbrian Water Refill Campaign 

 Work to date: Action Plan – Communications 

 Action Plan Summary 

 Next Steps 

 Summary 

 Task Group Recognition – The team had won a national award 
 
Members were advised that to date there were 188 Single Use Plastic pledges 
across County Durham from individuals, schools, community groups and 
businesses. There was a potential for regional SUP reduction pledge based on 
Durham County Council’s example. 
 
In Durham County Council offices and Beamish Museum crisp packets were being 
recycled through a registered scheme, however this was not open to households. In 
Durham City there were now recycling bins alongside general waste bins and street 
cleaning operatives carried two bags one for general waste and one for recycling. 
 
The Head of Environment advised that while a lot of actions within the action plan 
was complete further work was being identified. Work was being shared with County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
The work to eliminate SUPs had achieved a lot in a short time and that the service 
had a better understanding. Alternatives should be more environmentally beneficial 
and would get more sophisticated. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Environment for his presentation and indicated that 
the report demonstrated the tremendous amount of work that had been achieved 
over a small time period. He congratulated the team on winning the national award 
for the single use plastics pledge at the Local Authority Recycling Advisory 
Committee awards. 
 
Mr T Bolton referred to environment champions within the authority that use to be in 
each service and asked if this structure was still in place. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that the scheme was still in place but had 
been revamped with climate change in mind and a number of employees had 
signed up to the scheme.  
 
In response to the question from Councillor Iveson, Members were advised that not 
many organisations were able to successfully recycle black plastic. The Strategic 
Waste Manager advised that in relation to carbon black food trays the infra-red 
technology in recycling plants cannot pick up carbon black. However, this was 
slowly being changed so that infra-red technologies could pick up black trays. 
Members were informed that when black enters the system it taints the colour of 

Page 10



other plastics. In this region organisations do not have the technology; the service 
had three years of the contract left and could write new specifications into a new 
contract. 
 
A company in Peterlee had a use for microwavable food trays so they were hoping 
to work with the company. 
 
Councillor Dunn commented that a significant amount of work and progress had 
been made. He commended the action plan and stated that single use plastics was 
not just about signing a pledge but was about what and how we are going to do to 
deliver. Some people did not know where to start and by publishing information 
others could pick it up, so the authority could lead. He was delighted to hear that 
suppliers were asking how they could help, and organisations were wanting to get 
on board. He was aware that the Co-op had moved away from black plastic trays 
which hopefully would force other food suppliers to move away from black plastic 
trays. 
 
The Head of Environment advised that it was about communications and that there 
was investment of a web presence to signpost individuals and organisations. To 
date there was 188 signatories and most wanted further contact. Top tips were 
given on the web and it had generated a virtual community of interest. 
 
The Chair advised that following Councillor Dunn’s query at Economy and 
Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee about Climate Change being 
embedded into the implications sheet on committee reports this was being 
discussed by Committee Services and Legal Services. 
 
Mrs P Holding indicated that she was pleased that more guidance was coming out 
on what could be recycled and understood that black plastic container if clean could 
be used for road surfacing. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that recycling changed throughout the country 
and the government’s intention was to make every authority the same, however this 
needed a lot in investment in the infrastructure to bring everyone to the same level. 
The Council constantly sent out advice on what could and couldn’t be recycled. At 
Durham County Council the service had put stickers on bins and invested in officers 
to go out to knock on doors and explain and engage with communities. The Head of 
Environment gave the example of how the service engaged with students of what 
can and cannot be recycled in Durham. 
 
Councillor Coult asked if other city centres had dual bins and referred to the pledge 
for the recycling of crisp packets and asked how many schools had signed up and if 
they could be used as a drop off point for members of the public to take their crisp 
packets. 
 

Page 11



In response to the question, Members were advised that 20 schools had signed up 
to the Walkers pledge, however the number of trials was limited at this stage and 
the authority were lucky to be part of the scheme. Walkers do have public collection 
points for crisp packets. In County Durham the Care Share Foundation were 
offering crisp packet recycling to the public.  
 
Mrs R Morris sought clarification if the council recycled black plastic plant pots as 
her local nursery recycled these. 
 
The Head of Environment indicated that he was not aware of a scheme, but he did 
know that the council’s nursery reused plant pots and looked to avoid the use of 
single use plastics. 
 
Mrs R Morris asked if companies who recycled could be recognised. 
 
The Waste Strategy Team Manager responded that they were working with the 
Comms Team to show case some examples. 
 
The Strategic Waste Manager indicated that plant pots could be recycled at the 
household waste centres but not the kerbside. They had also been approached by a 
company for plastic pellets for use on roads who they had put in touch with the 
household waste centres. 
 
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
 

9 Budget Outturn Quarter 4 2018/2019 Report of the Corporate 
 Director of Regeneration and Local Services  
 
The Committee considered the Joint Report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
and Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services that set out details of 
the final outturn position for the service highlighting major variances in comparison 
with the budget, based on the position to the end of March 2019. 
 
The Finance Manager for Resources – Regeneration and Local Services Finance 
was in attendance to present the report and deliver a presentation and advised 
Members that there was a typo in para 4 of the report and that the underspend was 
£1.2m as shown in the table (for copy of report and presentation, see file of 
minutes). 
 
Resolved: That the final outturn position for 2018/19 be noted. 
 

10 Budget Forecast and Outturn Quarter 1 2019/2020 Report of the 
 Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services  
 
The Committee considered the Joint Report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
and Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services that set out details of 

Page 12



the forecast outturn budget for the service area highlighting major variances in 
comparison with the budget, based on the position to the end of Quarter 1. 
 
The Finance Manager for Resources – Regeneration and Local Services Finance 
was in attendance to present the report and deliver a presentation (for copy of 
report and presentation, see file of minutes). 
 
Mr T Bolton referred to the Gala Theatre and one on the challenges was the new 
cinema in Durham City and commented on the state of the theatre in particular the 
seats in the auditorium and asked if there were plans to refurbish the Gala. 
 
The Finance Manager responded that they were looking at the catering facilities in 
the Gala, but he was not aware of any refurbishments to seating but would obtain 
an update and advise members accordingly. 
 
Resolved: That the outturn position for Quarter 1 be noted. 
 

11 Performance Management Quarter 1 2019/2020 Report of the 
 Director of Transformation and Partnerships  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships that presented progress toward achieving the key outcomes of the 
Council’s corporate performance framework (for copy of report, see file of minutes). 
 
The Corporate Scrutiny and Strategic Manager was in attendance to present the 
report and outlined to the committee highlights of the quarter one performance 
management report relating to environment cleanliness, carbon emissions and 
recycling. 
 
Councillor Crute referred to paragraph two of the report on page 127 in relation to 
graffiti and advised that all members of the council were invited to a seminar 
following the last meeting of Council and were informed about the correlation 
between racist graffiti and identify areas of extremism or identify with issues and 
asked if the figures could be broken down to gather evidence to help other services. 
The Corporate Scrutiny and Strategy Manager confirmed that the figures could be 
broken down. 
 
Councillor Dunn commented that graffiti removed by the Highways Agency was 
sometimes as bad as the graffiti itself and asked why buildings and structures 
subjected to graffiti were not coated with anti-graffiti paint. He commented that at 
one time there had been a zero tolerance on graffiti and hoped to get back to that. 
He asked if anti-graffiti paint was used so that graffiti could be washed off with 
water. 
 
The Head of Environment advised Members that any racist of offensive graffiti on 
Durham County Council land would be removed within 24 hours. A record of the 

Page 13



graffiti was taken which could be broken down and shared. On private or other 
public land, they were encouraged to remove the graffiti but was a long process and 
they were looking to see if they could be more proactive on public land. In cases of 
private land Durham County Council did have some powers on private land, but it 
was usually a process of consent but would carry out the works in the public interest 
and charge the landowner. There were resource issues but it was a case of 
becoming more proactive and ‘nipping in the bud’, apply anti-graffiti paint and work 
with the police  
 
Mr T Bolton referred to graffiti on parish signage and how he struggled to find 
someone to remove the graffiti in his parish so there may be an opportunity to 
promote this service to parish councils. 
 
The Head of Environment responded that they could not guarantee that the jet 
spray would not cause any damage. 
 
The Chair referred to waste collection contamination and the 9.58% fines and 
sought clarification on this. 
 
The Corporate Scrutiny and Strategic Manager responded that this was small items 
of plastic such as bottle tops that are too small to be processed and are rejected by 
the machinery used to sort recycling material.  
 
The Chair asked if this was an education opportunity as previously in committee 
members had been told not to keep tops on bottles but to be put into the recycling 
separate, should bottle tops now be kept on the bottle. 
 
The Head of Environment advised that he would speak to the strategic waste 
manager and advise members accordingly. 
 
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
 

12 Verbal Update on Review Activity  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer advised that the working group held its final 
meeting on 22 July where they received evidence from the Portfolio Holder for 
Strategic Housing and Assets regarding allotments and then considered the key 
findings of all the evidence put before them and formulated their recommendations. 
 
During the summer work was done on a draft report that was circulated to officers 
for accuracy. It was expected that report would go to Cabinet in December/January 
following sign off by the committee.  
 
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
 
 

Page 14



13 Durham Strategic Flood Group Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Durham Strategic Flood Group held on 6 
September 2019, were received by the Committee for information. 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       

 Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee  

4 November 2019 

Fly tipping (Operation Stop It) and 

Operation Spruce Up  

 

Joint report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnership and Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

 Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Members of the Environment & Sustainable Communities 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee with a progress report on flytipping in 
County Durham including work being undertaken to reduce flytipping 
(Operation Stop It) and detail of the evaluation of ‘Operation Spruce Up’ 
scheme. 

Executive summary 

2 The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on an annual basis has received an overview of various 
Environmental campaigns undertaken by the Regeneration and Local 
Services Service Grouping to tackle issues such as dog fouling, littering, 
graffiti and flytipping.   

3 When determining the future work programme for the committee at the 
July meeting it was agreed by members that a progress update would 
be provided to the committee focusing on flytipping, providing detail of 
flytipping incidents, locations, response times, what is being flytipped, 
how we are tackling this issue and future plans/projects.  In addition, the 
meeting would also provide members with detail of ‘Operation Spruce-
Up’ including the evaluation of the project. 

4 Arrangements have been made for the Civic Pride Officer and the  
Neighbourhood Warden Manager to attend the meeting on the 4 
November 2019 to provide more detail in a presentation on. A copy of 
the presentation is attached as Appendix 2. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6a



Recommendations 

5 That the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee note and comment on the information provided in 
the report and presentation. 

6 That the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee include in its future work programme for 2020/2021 
a progress update on flytipping in the county and the various initiatives 
being undertaken to tackle this issue.  

Background 

7 Members will recall that the Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in October 2018 received an 
overview of various environmental projects and initiatives in the county 
including detail of various initiatives to tackle the issue of flytipping.   

8 When determining the committee’s future work programme it was 
agreed by members that a special meeting would be arranged which 
would include detail of flytipping in the county, providing relevant 
statistics together with detail of what initiatives or projects are being 
undertaken to tackle the issue.  It was also agreed that this meeting 
would receive detail of the evaluation of the ‘Operation Spruce Up’ 
scheme.  The committee during 2018 had included in its media items 
detail of when ‘Operation Spruce Up’ was visiting various villages in the 
county and the activity to be undertaken.  

9 The local environment is crucially important to quality of life in our 
communities. Residents regularly report issues and concerns to the 
Council, Area Action Partnerships, Town and Parish Councils and 
elected Members on a wide range of matters from dog fouling and 
littering, to graffiti and flytipping. Not only do these matters impact on 
community safety and fear of crime, but they are also recognised as 
forms of anti-social behaviour, which the British Crime Survey 
consistently identifies that resident’s feel is a big or fairly big problem in 
their area. 

10 Whilst the Council does deploy considerable resources through its clean 
and green teams in ensuring the County is clean and attractive as 
possible, it is recognised that behavioural change is the key to a more 
sustainable environment as well as lower costs. The civic pride 
approach in Durham, applied since Local Government Reorganisation 
(diagram below) utilises programmes of education/awareness and 
community involvement as a key foundation to its approach to 
environmental services. Operations and enforcement will always have a 
part to play, but their role is lessened, if this more holistic approach to 
the local environment is taken.  

Page 18



11 The Environment Partnership has developed a multi-agency thematic 
group “Pride in Our Communities” to oversee much of this work. This 
group, together with the Councils Neighbourhood Protection service 
considers and selects the most appropriate campaigns, and ensures 
their delivery is monitored and evaluated.  The common theme and 
overarching aims of many of these campaigns are not only to promote 
behavioural change for the minority that spoil our environment, but also 
increase opportunities for people to become more involved in making a 
difference their area. 

The ‘Pride in Durham’ approach 

12 In Durham we take a holistic approach when tackling the key areas of 
concerns from our communities. This means that we invest on trying to 
change behaviours through education and involvement along with 
having good operations and tough enforcement. The diagram below 
depicts this approach. 

 

Flytipping - Operation Stop It 

 

13 Flytipping is the most reported environmental issue to the Council and 
remains a high priority for our communities. In November 2014 
Operation ‘Stop It’ was established to tackle this in a multi-agency way 
and includes various DCC sections, Police, Environment Agency and 
Crimestoppers and it has 3 main aims: 

(a) to reduce the number of incidents 

(b) to target fly-tippers and; 

(c) educate householders and businesses to understand their 
responsibilities in making sure their waste is disposed of properly 

Page 19



14 Rural crime (including flytipping) has recently become a National 
Policing priority with the good practice in Durham and our partnership 
working being recognised nationally. 

15 Since the start of Operation Stop It flytipping has reduced by 26% in 
comparison to the national picture that has seen incidents rise to nearly 
1 million each year.  

16 The approach in Durham has seen a partnership approach and one that 
engenders the Durham Pride approach. This presentation will provide 
further detail about how the Council is performing and provide further 
information on what gets fly tipped and where. 

17 There has been good progress made with ensuring that the Council 
provides good services that make it easier to dispose of waste. This has 
seen the increase in the use of bulky collections, a large increase in the 
number of permits for the Household Waste Recycling Centres 
(HWRC). There is now the facility for businesses to take their waste to 
our Waste Transfer Facilities along with a new HWRC at Stainton Grove 
which can accommodate trade waste too. 

18 The presentation will also describe current work with the Fire Service 
along with future plans for a new campaign, the introduction of a fixed 
penalty notice for householders duty of care and the use of money 
generated from the sale of seized vehicles for community projects.  

Operation Spruce Up 

19 Councils services undertake their work to a high standard, for example, 
levels of street cleanliness being well above national levels, reducing fly 
tipping, investment in highway infrastructure, and regeneration schemes 
all provide improvements to a local area.    

20 Despite this, many of the Councils services are limited by the amount of 
time they spend in each area meaning they are not able to provide a 
thorough cleans. In addition, many of these services work on different 
rotas meaning that the work they do carry out are completed at different 
times resulting in the overall effect to the area having less impact.  

21 To combat this Operation Spruce Up was launched in 2016, the scheme 
involves one town or village.  In order to provide a Countywide approach 
each month a different Area Action Partnership (AAP) is covered. 
Receiving a 'clean up' and 'green up' to make environmental 
improvements and foster civic pride.  

22 In addition, the spruce Up Officer works with the local community in order 
to ensure that there is a local viewpoint in the issues being tackled. 

Page 20



Town/Parish Councils, Housing Providers, Community Groups, 
Businesses and others are engaged in each area. 

23 The Officer responsible for Spruce Up works with Schools in each area 
to deliver educational assemblies and classroom sessions on the 
importance of caring for your local environment.   

24 Since the scheme started, over 6,800 children and young people have 
been involved in activities such as litter picks, planting sessions, bird and 
bat box building and poster competitions.  

25 A further aspect of the campaign is the involvement of the Dogs Trust 
who carry out a community dog health check event at a local community 
space.  To date there have been over 300 Dogs with their owners 
engaged with at events organised during Spruce Up. 

26 The work continues and is due to run until 2022. This work gained 
National Recognition in 2017/8 becoming the Keep Britain Tidy – 
Campaign of the Year and finalist in the 2018 LGC Awards. 

Conclusion 

27 The committee will receive statistics in relation to flytipping in the county 
and various initiatives to tackle the issue.  In addition, the committee will 
receive detail of the performance of the ‘Operation Spruce Up’ scheme.  
It is intended that the committee will receive a future update report in 
relation to various initiatives to tackle flytipping as part of its 2020/2021 
work programme.  

Background papers 

None 

Other useful documents 

None 

Contact:   

 Ian Hoult Tel:  265571 

 Pauline Walker  

 Richard Brown  

Page 21



   

   

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable  

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

The environment and how it looks is linked to crime and disorder and working 

to ensure that Durham remains a clean and safe place helps contribute to this 

agenda. 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

Page 22



Operation Spruce Up
Geoff Knight
Civic Pride 

Officer

Appendix 2

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 6b



Beauty

19.6m Visitors per year, 
worth £864m per year 

Visit County Durham, 2018

P
age 24



……and the Beast
18,000 streetscene requests a year.
7768 fly tipping incidents 2016/17

49% reductions in central 
funding

P
age 25



The What

• Targeted ‘deep clean’ of Specific 
areas

• Location chosen between the local 
community via the AAP’s and Clean 
and Green

• 1 Spruce up per AAP area per year

P
age 26



Much more than just a big clean up!

• Community engagement 
in planning and 
implementation

• Focused surge of activity
• Longstanding results
• Strategic approach
• Partnerships with local 

business and 
organisations

P
age 27



Excellent Value For Money

• The project runs out of currently 
existing budgets, with the only 
additional expenditures being 
just over £35,000 for a 
designated Coordinator and a 
vehicle, as well as some cost 
for materials and plants

• The project utilises partnership 
working and focused activity to 
create good value for money  

P
age 28



Partners

P
age 29



Local 
changes 
Make a 

big 
difference

P
age 30



Substantial
Media Coverage

P
age 31



Evaluation
• Surveys are conducted after each Spruce up of 

residents in the immediate vicinity of the spruce up 
area

• Surveys and consultations conducted in partnership 
where appropriate, for example, in partnership with 
the CAT Team

P
age 32



Evaluation

P
age 33



•

‘Wow! What a 
difference’

‘Cenotaph flower beds 
look very impressive –

Well Done!’
‘The Town looks great –

Very much improved’
‘Love it!’

Crook Residents and 
Businesses

We know its making a difference 

‘Really nice to see as we walk 
through Town different things have 
been happening. My daughter has 
been telling me about it and saying 

it is for Spruce Up Spenny’
Spennymoor Resident

‘ ‘You can really see 
the difference’

Fencehouses Resident

‘ ‘We have been asked to pass 
on complements by loads of 

people. Well Done!
Member of Staff at Crook Civic 

Centre

‘What a difference. I 
feel so much safer 
walking through the 
underpass’
Aycliffe Resident

P
age 34



Wider Benefits

Health and WellbeingCommunity Safety

Regeneration and Economic Growth

‘It has brought more 
customers to our 

shop!’
Spennymoor shop owner

‘Every customer who has 
come in has said how 
much better it looks’
Stanhope Resident

‘Spruce Up is improving where we 
all live, work and allowing young 
people to show their true potential’

‘We are honoured to be part of this 
initiative – the Council deserves great 
credit for its imaginative approach to 
dementia friendly landscaping” 

P
age 35



Outcomes

• Substantial improvements evidenced
following each of the 14 Spruce Ups.

• Over 4500 young people reached 
through the scheme

• More than 200 volunteer hours

• 6 additional ‘Mini Spruce Ups’ carried 
out.

P
age 36



What makes Spruce Up Special?

• Exceptional Teamwork – across 
the Council and our community

• Groundbreaking results – with 
innovative ideas

• Low Cost: most expenses 
covered through existing budgets 
and assets of clean and green 
team. 

P
age 37



Any Questions?

P
age 38



Fly Tipping

Richard Brown
Neighbourhood 
Warden Manager

P
age 39



Fly Tipping
• How is Durham doing?

• What gets fly tipped and where?

• Cross Border fly tipping

• How have we tackle it?

• Response times

• Projects and Initiatives

• Future plans and challenges.

P
age 40



P
age 41



The Durham Approach

ENFORCEMENT

PARTNERSHIP 
OPERATIONS

INVOLVEMENT/PARTICIPATION

EDUCATION/AWARENESS

P
age 42



Education & Awareness
• Education campaigns/ awareness  
• Social Media / Video Footage

P
age 43



Reporting Fly Tipping

• Firmstep – Residents can now report fly tipping 
online and can pinpoint exact location on mapping.

• Integration of Firmstep to Orcuma - link jobs 
between Wardens and Clean and Green.

P
age 44



Bulky Collections

25825
26594

13652

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

20000

22000

24000

26000

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Year Half Year

• Book online
• Localised promotion
• Subsidised & 1of the North East cheapest 

P
age 45



Waste Permits

18299

17225

24155

26787

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

20000

22000

24000

26000

28000

2016 2017 2018 2019

Calendar Year Part Year

P
age 46



What gets fly tipped?

P
age 47



Flytipping – incidents Oct 18 to 
Sep 19 All Waste types

Live Demo

P
age 48



Black bags

P
age 49



Old Furniture

P
age 50



Mattresses, Carpets

P
age 51



House/Shed clearance

P
age 52



Enforcement?
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

2019/20 
Q1&Q2

Number of locations cameras have been deployed 117 80 76 35

No. of incidents caught on CCTV 19 23 14 4

Number of stop and search operations 10 36 25 21

No. of duty of care warning letters 17 18 47 15

No. of producers issued 9 11 74 9

No. of FPNs issued for waste carrier offences 10 14 7 11

No. of Vehicles seized - 2 1 2

No. of S108 Notices - 77 62 22

No. of PACE interviews 31 45 21 7

No. of FPNS issued for fly-tipping 17 23 27 11

Number of prosecutions in relating to fly-tipping (DCC) 14 10 9 4

Awarded in fines, compensation, costs and surcharges £7,019 £8,846 £4,920 £3,630

P
age 53



Stop Checks

• Work with the Police to carry out Stop 
Checks

• Waste Carriers and Duty of Care 
compliance 

P
age 54



Vehicle Seizures
https://youtu.be/Zu5azXY3f6s

P
age 55



Successful Prosecutions
Man caught Fly Tipping by covert CCTV 
deployed in a hotspot area.

£320 Fine 
£230 Costs
£32 Victim Surcharge
£582 TOTAL
£2,500 Van Forfeited 

Woman caught Fly Tipping by 
covert CCTV.

£560 Fine
£56 Victim Surcharge

£616 TOTAL

P
age 56



Partnership Task Force

35

Town and Parish Councils

Area Action 
Partnership

P
age 57



Methods of vehicle disposal

P
age 58



Civic Pride
• Sell seized vehicles to put money back 

into Civic Pride for Community events.

P
age 59



Current work - Secondary Fires

P
age 60



Future Developments

• Household Duty of Care (HDoC) - Education and 
implementation

P
age 61



Questions?

P
age 62


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 October 2019
	6a Joint report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships and the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	6b Presentation by the Civic Pride Officer and Neighbourhood Warden Manager

